
 
Telephone Enquiries: Ben Caulfield - Policy and Overview & Scrutiny Officer,  
Email:  ben.caulfield@hyndburnbc.gov.uk 
Published on Wednesday, 13 October 2021 

Page 1 of 2  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Communities and Wellbeing Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee 
 
Wednesday, 20 October 2021 at 3.00 pm, 
Accrington Town Hall 
 
Membership 
 
Chair: Councillor Jenny Molineux (in the Chair) 
 
Councillors Dominik Allen, Carole Haythornthwaite, Bernadette Parkinson, June Harrison and 
Kate Walsh 
 
Cooptees: Bernard Dawson, Paul Barton, Jean Battle and Kimberley Whitehead 

 

A G E N D A 
 
 

1.   Apologies for Absence and Substitutions   
 
 

2.   Declarations of Interest and Dispensations   
 
 

3.   Minutes of Last Meeting  (Pages 3 - 6) 
 

The Minutes of the last meeting of the Communities and Wellbeing Overview & Scrutiny 
Committee held on 8th September 2021 be submitted for approval as a correct record. 

Recommended - That the Minutes of the Communities and Wellbeing 
Overview & Scrutiny Committee held on 8th 
September 2021 be approved as a correct record. 

 

 

Public Document Pack



Page 2 of 2 

 

4.   Appointment of Co-optees  (Pages 7 - 12) 
 

The Overview and Scrutiny Officer submits a report to inform the Committee of the 
approval of the proposed Co-optees by Full Council as set out in the report. 

Recommended - That the Committee note that the Council approved 
the reappointment of Bernard Dawson MBE and Paul 
Barton and the appointment of Jean Battle MBE and 
Kimberley Whitehead as co-optees to the 
Communities and Wellbeing Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee until the end of the Municipal Year 
2022/23.   

 

5.   Suicide Prevention Scrutiny Panel Report  (Pages 13 - 26) 
 

To inform the Communities and Wellbeing Overview and Scrutiny Committee of 
the findings and recommendations of the Suicide Prevention Scrutiny Panel. 
 
2.1 That the Committee submits the following recommendations to Cabinet: 

Recommended (1) That the following recommendations be submitted to 
Cabinet:    

  That Cabinet resolve: 

- To sign up to the Mental Health 
Challenge for Local Authorities. 

- To appoint an elected member as the 
Council’s ‘Mental Health Champion’. 

- To identify a member of staff within the 
Council to act as ‘Lead Officer’ for 
mental health and wellbeing. 

- To implement a Mental Health and 
Suicide Prevention Action Plan, as 
detailed in Appendix 1. 

 

 
 



 

 
1 

 
COMMUNITIES AND WELLBEING OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY 

COMMITTEE 
 

 
Wednesday, 8th September, 2021 

 
Present:  Councillors Jenny Molineux, Bernadette Parkinson (Vice Chair), 

Kate Walsh, June Harrison, Dominik Allen and Carole Haythornthwaite 

  

  

  
 

 
62 Apologies for Absence and Substitutions 

 
There were no apologies for absence submitted to the meeting. 
 

63 Declarations of Interest and Dispensations 
 
Councillor Kate Walsh declared a non-disclosable interest in item 4 – Childhood Obesity 
and Healthy Weight Declaration due to her involvement in a funding bid for the Food Active 
Project and her work with Hyndburn Food Bank.  She remained in the meeting and took 
part in the determination of the item. 
 

64 Minutes of Last Meeting 
 
The Minutes of the last meeting of the Communities and Wellbeing Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee held on 8th July 2021 were submitted for approval as a correct record. 
  
Resolved        -  That the Minutes be received and approved as a correct 

record. 
 

65 Childhood Obesity and Healthy Weight Declaration 
 
Nicola Calder and Emily Whyman (Food Active) and Paula Cooper (Senior Public Health 
Practitioner, Lancashire County Council) gave a presentation on the Local Healthy Weight 
Declaration.  The following issues were discussed: 
 
HPHF Programme 
Unhealthy Weight: a public health priority 
Planning Lever 
Social Movement 
Recipe 4 Health 
System Leadership 
The Whole Systems Approach to Obesity – July 19 
The Local Authority Declaration on Healthy Weight 
What are Local Authority Declarations for? 
Leadership and Communication are key to Success. 
Review and Refresh – July 2020 
Opportunities 
HWD Covid-19 & Inequalities 
The 16 Commitments 

Page 3

Agenda Item 3.



 
 
 

 

 
2 

Lancashire County Council:  Healthy Weight Declaration 
Challenges 
What is in the Local Authority Gift? 
Action on Core Commitments Based on Local Priorities? 
What is in the Local Authority Gift? 
 
They explained that there was concern about the growing rate of obesity in children, gave 
context around a health weight and provided information on the impact of an unhealthy 
weight on children’s health and wellbeing.  They referred to the consequential funding of a 3 
year project (Regional Healthy Weight Programme).   
 
Members asked questions about the following issues: 
 

- A lack of support and encouragement for breastfeeding and fewer green spaces for 
children to enjoy and be active 

- Antisocial behaviour from teenagers and a tendency to snack on junk food 
- Suggested guided walks on school routes followed by healthy breakfasts.   
- Difficulties of Foodbanks having a supply of healthy foods to hand out. 

 
The Overview and Scrutiny Officer reported on how the Council was already taking action 
and was giving consideration to future strategies but, he pointed out, the Council would 
have to give further consideration before committing to sign the Declaration.   

Resolved (1) That the Communities and Wellbeing Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee makes the following 
recommendations to Cabinet: 

 That Cabinet agrees to support the principles of 
the Healthy Weight Declaration and Lancashire 
County Council’s Commitment as the Upper Tier 
Authority responsible for Public Health in 
Hyndburn; 

 That Cabinet shows its commitment to reducing 
obesity in Hyndburn by maintaining the actions 
detailed as follows: 
- Support action at national level to help local 
authorities promote healthy weight and reduce 
health inequalities in our communities by 
promoting national healthy weight campaign 
messages through our social media channels; 
- Maintain supplementary planning guidance for 
hot food takeaways around schools with a 
restriction zone of 400 m radius around all 
schools in the Borough.  New hot food takeaways 
will not be supported within these areas, except 
when located in a defined town of local centre, or 
controls on the hours of operation area 
implemented to help reduce the likelihood of 
young people visiting. 
- Use planning policy where possible to support 
health and wellbeing and create development that 
encourages physical activity and active travel. 
- Continue our approach to enabling and 
promoting active travel for staff and visitors 
whilst providing staff with opportunities to be 

Page 4



 
 
 

 

 
3 

physically active through the promoting of stair 
use, cycle to work scheme and subsidised leisure 
access.  
- Encourage partners who operate catering from 
Council owned buildings to offer healthy options. 
-Through our work with partners notably 
Hyndburn Leisure, encourage residents to be 
physically active through use of leisure facilities 
and outdoor spaces.  

 (2) That the Communities and Wellbeing Overview 
Committee review the item on ‘Healthy Weight 
Declaration’ again in 6-12 months’ time, giving 
particular consideration to there being sufficient 
capacity to act upon the Declaration. 

 
66 Prevent Update 

 
The Policy Manager submitted a report to update the Committee on the Statutory Prevent 
Duty placed on the Council as per the Counter-Terrorism and Security Act 2015 and review 
the minimum standard requirements for Local Authorities and the local governance in place 
to help reduce the threat to the UK from terrorism.  He explained that the aim was to try and 
safeguard those most at risk and how referred to how they intended to do this.  He outlined 
features to identify individuals most attracted to terrorism and the work that Prevent did to 
prevent or reduce this risk.  He referred to the action plans being put in place across East 
Lancashire and policies adopted by Hyndburn.  He recommended that the report be 
endorsed and supported and invited comments from the Committee. 
 
Members commented on the following issues: 
 

- Concern that right-wing views were not taken seriously enough. 
- Concern that the impact of the pandemic had increased social isolation and put 

greater reliance on social media making individuals more susceptible to influences 
of terrorism. 

- If the level threat was higher in Lancashire 
 
The Policy Manager reported Counter-terrorism did take right wing views seriously and took 
action on this where appropriate.  He explained that many referrals came from schools but 
figures had not risen during the time of the pandemic and had even gone down.  The UK 
level threat was a national figure.   
 

Resolved (1) That the Communities and Wellbeing Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee endorse and support the approach 
being taken in Hyndburn to meet the requirements of 
the Prevent duty; and 

 (2)  That the comments of the Member of the Communities 
and Wellbeing Overview and Scrutiny Committee be 
noted. 

 
 
 

 
Signed:…………………………………………… 

 

Page 5



 
 
 

 

 
4 

Date: …………….………………………………………… 
 

Chair of the meeting 
At which the minutes were confirmed 

 
 

Page 6



 

REPORT TO: Communities and Wellbeing Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee ; Resources Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee 

DATE: 20th October 2021; 4th November 2021 

REPORT OF: Cllr Jenny Molineux, Chair of the Communities and 
Wellbeing Overview and Scrutiny Committee and Cllr 
Paddy Short, Chair of the Resources Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee   

REPORT AUTHOR: Ben Caulfield, Scrutiny and Policy Officer 

TITLE OF REPORT: Appointment of Co-optees 

EXEMPT REPORT  
(Local Government 
Act 1972, Schedule 
12A)  

No Not applicable 

KEY DECISION: No If yes, date of publication:  

 
  
1. Purpose of Report 
 
1.1 To inform the Overview and Scrutiny Committees of the co-optee appointments made 

by Council on 23rd September 2021. 
 
 
2. Recommendations  
 
That the Committees note the following: 
 
 
2.1 That Council approved the reappointment of Bernard Dawson MBE as co-optee to the 

Communities and Wellbeing Overview and Scrutiny Committee. 
 
2.2 That Council approved the reappointment of Paul Barton as co-optee to the 

Communities and Wellbeing Overview and Scrutiny Committee. 
 
2.3 That Council approved the appointment of Jean Battle MBE as co-optee to the 

Communities and Wellbeing Overview and Scrutiny Committee. 
 
2.4 That Council approved the appointment of Kimberley Whitehead as co-optee to the 

Communities and Wellbeing Overview and Scrutiny Committee. 
 
2.5 That Council approved the reappointment of Bernard Dawson MBE as co-optee to the 

Resources Overview and Scrutiny Committee. 

Page 7

Agenda Item 4.



 

 
2.6 That Council approved the reappointment of Doug Hayes as co-optee to the 

Resources Overview and Scrutiny Committee. 
 
2.7 That Council approved the appointment of Stephen Button as co-optee to the 

Resources Overview and Scrutiny Committee. 
 
2.8 That Council approved that the above appointments be made until the end of the 

2022/23 Municipal Year. 
 
 
3. Reasons for Recommendations and Background 
 
3.1 The Councils Constitution, Overview and Scrutiny Procedure Rule C2 states: 
 

“Up to four members of the public may be appointed to each Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee as non-voting co-optees, if they are deemed to have relevant experience of 
matters falling within the remit of that Overview and Scrutiny Committee”.  
 
(i) Co-optees may be appointed following nomination by a councillor or following an 
application received directly from a member of the public.  

 
(ii) Applications received directly from the public will be considered first at the relevant 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee. The Committee will consider the knowledge and 
experience of the applicant relevant to the terms of reference or work programme of 
the Committee. If the majority of the Overview and Scrutiny members support the 
appointment of the applicant, the proposed appointment will be presented to Council 
for approval. 
 
(iii) Nominations received from councillors will be presented to the Council for approval, 
if supported by the Chair of the relevant Overview and Scrutiny Committee. In reaching 
a decision, the Council will consider the knowledge and experience of the nominee 
relevant to the terms of reference or work programme of the Committee.” 
 
The requirement for co-optees to be non-political was considered by Council in a report 
earlier on the agenda for this meeting, with the recommendation that this requirement 
be removed for the reasons set out in that report. 
 

3.2 The list below shows those who were nominated as co-optees by the Communities and 
Wellbeing Committee alongside the reasons for nomination, at its meeting on 8th July 
2021. 

 
- Bernard Dawson MBE – is an Honorary Freeman of the Borough, having served as 

a District and County Councillor for many years. Bernard has been previously 
appointed to Overview and Scrutiny Committees as both a Councillor and more 
recently as a co-optee. 
 

- Paul Barton is an Honorary Alderman, former Councillor, previous Mayor and a 
local businessman. Paul has all the attributes to bring a common sense private 

Page 8



 

sector business argument to the role of Overview and Scrutiny Committees. Paul 
has been a Scrutiny co-optee since 2016. 

 
 

- Jean Battle MBE is an Honorary Alderman and former District and County 
Councillor. During her near 30 year role as a Councillor, Jean has been Leader of 
Hyndburn Borough Council and a Cabinet member at Lancashire County Council. 
Jean has strong links with many local charities and was awarded an MBE in 2020. 
Jean’s experience will add real value to the Communities and Wellbeing Overview 
and Scrutiny Committee.  
 

- Kimberely Whitehead has been an active member of the community in Hyndburn 
for a number of years. She was very active within the Hyndburn Hub while it was 
established and has now gone on to be a trustee at Hyndburn CVS. Kimberley is 
Secretary of Hyndburn Green Spaces Forum as well being a committee member of 
ACE. She is also involved with many of the charities and community groups in 
Hyndburn including being Secretary of Hyndburn Baby Bank. She has a keen 
interest in Scrutiny and has attended several meetings as a member of the public. 

            
3.3 The following were nominated as co-optees by the Resources Committee at its 

meeting on 20th July: 
 

- Bernard Dawson MBE is an Honorary Freeman of the Borough, having served as a 
District and County Councillor for many years. Bernard has been previously 
appointed to Overview and Scrutiny Committees as both a Councillor and more 
recently as a co-optee. 
 

- Doug Hayes is an Honorary Alderman and former Councillor, who served as a 
Councillor for Oswaldtwistle for 24 years, was Mayor in 2000/01 and the Chair of 
the Resources Overview and Scrutiny Committee for several years. His experience 
could add value to the Committee. 
 

- Stephen Button is a former Councillor who served on the Resources Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee previously, notably playing an active role in the green review 
conducted in 2019. 

 
3.4 Cllr Paddy Short, Chair of the Resources Overview and Scrutiny Committee has since 

nominated Paul Barton to fill the vacant co-optee position on the Resources Overview 
and Scrutiny Committee. Should the Committee approve, this will be put back to 
Council for decision. 

 
. 
 
4. Alternative Options considered and Reasons for Rejection 
 
4.1 Not applicable 
 
 
5. Consultations 

Page 9



 

 
5.1 None 
 
 
6. Implications 
 

Financial implications (including 
any future financial commitments 
for the Council) 
 

None 

Legal and human rights 
implications 
 

None 

Assessment of risk 
 

None 

Equality and diversity implications 
A Customer First Analysis should be 
completed in relation to policy 
decisions and should be attached as 
an appendix to the report.  

Not Applicable 

 
 
7. Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1985: 

List of Background Papers  
 
7.1 Agenda, reports and minutes of the Communities and Wellbeing Overview and 

Scrutiny Committee on 8th July 2021 
 
 https://democracy.hyndburnbc.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=129&MId=2628&Ver

=4 
  
 Agenda, reports and minutes of the Resources Overview and Scrutiny Committee on 

20th July 2021  
 
 https://democracy.hyndburnbc.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=132&MId=2657&Ver

=4 
 
 Agenda, reports and minutes of Council on 23rd September 2021 

https://democracy.hyndburnbc.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=130&MId=2601&Ver
=4  

 
  
 
 
  

Page 10

http://hyntranet/index.php?option=com_remository&Itemid=80&func=startdown&id=1407
https://democracy.hyndburnbc.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=129&MId=2628&Ver=4
https://democracy.hyndburnbc.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=129&MId=2628&Ver=4
https://democracy.hyndburnbc.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=132&MId=2657&Ver=4
https://democracy.hyndburnbc.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=132&MId=2657&Ver=4
https://democracy.hyndburnbc.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=130&MId=2601&Ver=4
https://democracy.hyndburnbc.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=130&MId=2601&Ver=4


 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 11



This page is intentionally left blank



Page 1 of 14 
 

REPORT TO: Communities and Wellbeing Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee 

DATE: 20 October 2021 

REPORT OF: Cllr Jenny Molineux, Chair of the Communities 
and Wellbeing Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee  

REPORT AUTHOR: Ben Caulfield, Scrutiny and Policy Officer 

TITLE OF REPORT: Suicide Prevention Scrutiny Panel Report 

EXEMPT REPORT  
(Local Government 
Act 1972, Schedule 
12A)  

Options Not applicable 

  

KEY DECISION: Options If yes, date of publication:  

 
  
1. Purpose of Report 
 
1.1 To inform the Communities and Wellbeing Overview and Scrutiny Committee of the 

findings and recommendations of the Suicide Prevention Scrutiny Panel. 
 
 
2. Recommendations  
 
2.1 That the Committee submits the following recommendations to Cabinet: 
 
 That Cabinet resolves: 
 
 To sign up to the Mental Health Challenge for Local Authorities. 

To appoint an elected member as the Council’s ‘Mental Health Champion’. 
To identify a member of staff within the Council to act as ‘Lead Officer’ for 
mental health and wellbeing. 
To implement a Mental Health and Suicide Prevention Action Plan, detailed in 
Appendix 1. 

 
 
3. Reasons for Recommendations and Background 
 
3.1 The Communities and Wellbeing Overview and Scrutiny Committee received a report 

and presentation from Lancashire County Council Public Health at its meeting on 8th 

Page 13

Agenda Item 5.



Page 2 of 14 
 

July. The report highlighted concerns that Real Time Surveillance data of suspected 
suicide rates in Hyndburn have increased.  

 
3.2 Each and every suicide is a tragedy, which causes devastating and permanent impacts 

on families, friends and broader communities. It is estimated that annually 800,000 
people across the world die by suicide, with 5,316 people sadly taking their life in 
England in 2019. It is of the utmost importance that we do all we can to reduce this 
number as far as possible, so that fewer people die by suicide. But it is also of the 
utmost importance that when, tragically, somebody does end their life by suicide their 
family, friends and broader community who have been bereaved have whatever 
support they need in place to manage their loss. 

 
3.3 The Five-Year Forward View for Mental Health set a national ambition in 2016 to 

reduce suicides by 10 percent (equivalent to 482 suicides) by 2020 to 2021. Following 
years of increasing suicide rates between 2007 and 2014, this was a significant 
ambition, announced to focus national and local efforts across Government and 
communities to reverse the worrying upward trend in suicides.  

 
3.4 Since the percentage reduction ambition was set in 2016, there have been significant 

changes to trends in suicide rates. Between 2014 and 2017, there was a steady 
decline in the number of registered suicide deaths in England, with 2017 seeing the 
lowest number of registered suicide deaths since 2010. Sadly, 2018 and 2019 saw 
increases in the number of registered suicides, with the suicide rate in 2019 being 10.8 
per 100,000 people - a statistically significant increase compared to the 2016 rate of 
9.5 per 100,000 people.  

 
3.5 These increases have been noticeable amongst both males and females, with a 

statistically significant increase in the number of suicide death registrations in England 
in 2019, compared to 2017. Among males, the rate of registered suicides in 2019 in 
England (16.7 deaths per 100,000 males) was 19.3% higher than the rate observed 
before the increase started in 2017 (14.0 deaths per 100,000). Among females, the 
rate in 2019 (5.2 deaths per 100,000 females) was 13.0% higher than the rate in 2017 
(4.6 deaths per 100,000). 

 
3.6 In England and Wales, all unnatural deaths are investigated by coroners to establish 

the cause and circumstances of the death. The investigation, known as an inquest, 
compiles evidence such as the post-mortem, toxicology reports, and interviews with 
relatives and friends. Once all the available evidence has been collected, a coroner will 
then determine the cause of death, manner of death and surrounding circumstances.  

 
3.7 In July 2018, the standard of proof used by coroners to determine whether a death was 

caused by suicide changed. Previously, the “criminal standard” was applied, meaning 
that the coroner required evidence “beyond all reasonable doubt” that a death was 
caused by suicide. Since July 2018, the “civil standard” has been applied meaning that 
it must be shown on the “balance of probability” that a death was caused by suicide.  

 
3.8 There are many complex factors driving suicide rates and the reasons for the change 

seen in the national rate of suicide cannot be attributed to one factor alone. The 

Page 14



Page 3 of 14 
 

following four groups were previously agreed as particular groups that are a priority to 
reduce suicides as far as possible.  

 

 Middle-aged men 

 People who self-harm 

 Children and young people 

 People with a mental illness 
 
3.9 Although the national strategy for suicide prevention highlights these groups as priority, 

suicide can affect anyone. 
 
3.10 These are unprecedented times. The mental health effects of the COVID-19 pandemic 

may be profound and there are suggestions that suicide rates will rise over the long 
term, though this is not inevitable. Suicide is likely to remain a pressing concern as the 
pandemic has longer-term effects on the general population, the economy and 
vulnerable groups.  

 
3.11 Public Health England (PHE) are piloting real-time suicide surveillance by collecting 

early real-time data on suspected suicides and using this to identify patterns of risk and 
causal factors to inform national and local responses. This is currently in operation 
across Lancashire, and will now be rolled out nationally, enabling more timely data flow 
and earlier interventions. The information provides localised  intelligence enabling local 
and district authorities and key partners to work together to potentially reduce the 
numbers of suicides. 

 
Suicides in Lancashire – National Data Reporting 
 
3.12 Between the period 2017-19 there were 402 deaths, with the cause of death identified 

as suicide, in the Lancashire-12 area. Of these 302 were male and 100 female. The 
suicide rate is significantly higher for all persons (12.8), males (18.2) and females (6.1) 
when compared to England (10.1, 15.5 and 4.9 respectively).There has been a steady 
increase in the suicide rate in Lancashire-12 between 2007-09 and 2017-19 for all 
persons (from 11.7 to 12.8 per 100,000 of the population). 

 
3.13 Chorley (16.4) has the highest suicide rate of the twelve districts in the Lancashire-12 

area (for all persons 10+) and is significantly worse than England. Lancaster (15.3) and 
Preston (14.1) are also significantly worse. The other districts are similar to England, 
with rates varying from 15.0 in Rossendale, to 8.5 in Fylde. 

 
3.14 The number of suicides between 2002-2019 for each District in Lancashire can be 

seen below: 
 

Page 15



Page 4 of 14 
 

 
 
 

3.15 Although figures appear low in Hyndburn when compared with other local authorities, 
no death by suicide should be considered insignificant. In addition, since 2019, 
Lancashire has seen investment in real time surveillance which places Hyndburn 
amongst the top 5 areas for suspected suicides.  

 
3.16 In response to high rates across Lancashire, the Lancashire and Cumbria 

Sustainability and Transformation Partnership have produced the Suicide Prevention 
Logic Model, below: 

 
 

 

Number of suicides by local authority, England and Wales, deaths registered 2002 to 2019
1,2,3,4,5

Number of deaths

Area Names 2019 2018 2017 2016 2015 2014 2013 2012 2011 2010 2009 2008 2007 2006 2005 2004 2003 2002

Lancashire 0 151 141 110 120 116 116 125 129 100 113 129 119 113 84 94 113 93 94

0 Burnley 11 10 9 3 8 7 11 8 5 3 12 10 7 8 7 11 6 9

0 Chorley 20 19 12 16 10 8 8 7 8 10 10 21 14 4 5 10 8 6

0 Fylde 8 4 7 6 10 11 5 9 5 7 3 7 3 5 5 7 6 5

0 Hyndburn 6 7 7 13 7 12 9 12 9 10 8 6 12 5 7 7 6 11

0 Lancaster 23 16 17 15 16 15 13 16 12 14 9 9 12 12 6 11 16 10

0 Pendle 4 12 12 6 8 9 12 11 6 9 11 9 3 5 10 8 10 7

0 Preston 19 21 10 13 16 21 21 22 14 15 24 12 23 8 15 18 6 14

0 Ribble Valley 6 4 4 8 7 3 7 2 2 5 8 6 7 5 3 5 2 7

0 Rossendale 14 10 4 3 11 2 8 7 9 8 14 8 11 6 10 6 3 2

0 South Ribble 9 10 7 11 11 11 10 18 14 11 8 9 7 12 11 12 9 8

0 West Lancashire 12 14 14 11 6 7 12 8 10 7 9 11 7 6 8 9 9 4

0 Wyre 19 14 7 15 6 10 9 9 6 14 13 11 7 8 7 9 12 11

Page 16



Page 5 of 14 
 

 
 
3.17 Lancashire County Council Public Health are working in partnership with the Integrated 

Care System to reduce the number of suicides in Lancashire, and presented their 
Action Plan for the first wave of intervention to the Scrutiny Committee, with a focus on 
prevention, seen below: 

 

 
 
3.18 Engaging Public, Community and Voluntary sector organisations in Suicide Prevention 

is vital in delivering the plan and ultimately reducing suicide. Committee members were 
keen to explore if any policies or actions of Hyndburn Borough Council support suicide 
prevention, and also what additional actions the council could take, within its remit, to 
further support the agenda. 

 
3.19 The Committee resolved to establish a Scrutiny Panel to carry out a light touch review, 

specifically focussed on: 
 

- What does Hyndburn Borough Council already do to support suicide prevention 
- What more can Hyndburn Borough Council do as part of its core business to 

support suicide prevention 
 
3.20 The Panel would be chaired by Councillor Jenny Molineux. Councillors Dave Parkins, 

June Harrison, Kaye Walsh and Judith Addison made up the panel. Kirsten Burnett, 
Head of Policy and OD, Mark Beard, Head of Audit and Investigations (And also a 
Samaritan for over 20 years), and Marie Demaine, Senior Public Health Practitioner 
(LCC Public Health) were asked to provide officer support to the panel. 

 
Hyndburn Borough Council 

Page 17



Page 6 of 14 
 

 
3.21 The Panel identified the following which is already in place at Hyndburn Borough 

Council, and also considered opportunities to expand on current work. 
 
Employee Wellbeing 
 
3.22 Employee Assistance Programme (EAP) – Staff have 24/7 access to the EAP. This is 

a confidential and free to use service accessible by phone, email and online. The EAP 
provides: 

 
 Practical information 
 Fact sheets and packs 
 Resource information on support services in your local area 
 Short-term face-to-face or telephone counselling to help you get back on track 
 Extensive website resources including articles, interactive tools and regular online 

seminars 
 
3.23 The EAP is designed to help staff deal with a wide range of issues including mental 

health, and be used for work, family or personal reasons. 
 
3.24 Emotional Wellbeing Handbook – Is provided to all staff when they begin employment 

with the Council, and provides practical guidance on on improving wellbeing and 
increasing resilience. 

 
3.25 Friendly Faces - Here at the council we have a network of what we call “Friendly 

Faces”. They’re trained to listen and might be able to offer some advice or signpost to 
HR policies or other support. Employees can contact one of this group if they’re 
struggling and wish to talk in confidence.  Some staff who are Friendly Faces have 
recently left the Council so there is a need to recruit more volunteers to this team. 

 
3.26 Flexible Working / Bereavement Leave – The Council have great flexible working 

policies including a generous leave entitlement and compassionate leave when people 
are dealing with caring responsibilities, family illness or bereavement. 

 
3.27 Physical activity – Cycle to work schemes and reduced priced access to leisure 

services are readily available to staff. 
 
3.28 The Panel acknowledged that the resources available to employees for wellbeing were 

excellent, and were particularly keen to explore the possibility of opening up the EAP to 
elected members. Elected members often support residents through numerous issues. 
Many work full time alongside their duties as a Councillor, and could benefit from the 
mental health support available through the EAP. The Head of Policy and OD made 
some initial enquiries regarding this and reported that this could be implemented with 
minimal cost – for this year it would be £8.95 per person, or £313.25 in total.   

 
Recommended Action: That Cabinet introduces an Elected Member Assistance 
Programme, available to Councillors, which includes 24/7 telephone / online 
supports and access to counselling. 

 

Page 18



Page 7 of 14 
 

 
Staff Training 
 
3.29 Council employees and Elected Members are able to attend a training session 

“Dealing with Suicidal Customers”. This was developed at the request of the Benefits, 
Revenues & Customer Contact Teams as they had noticed an increase of customers 
stating that they had suicidal thoughts and feelings prior to the Pandemic. Staff had felt 
unsure how to approach the issue and deal with those customers. The training has 
been carried out both face to face and via Microsoft Teams. The session lasts around 
90 minutes and is an interactive session which gives participants a greater 
understanding of suicide and importantly what to do when dealing with a customer that 
raises the issue of suicide. The training also reinforces the support for staff too. To 
date there have been around 6 sessions since February 2020 and further dates for this 
training have been scheduled for September and October 2021. The training is 
voluntary but has been attended by a cross section of employees to date from Heads 
of Service to front line staff. 

 
3.30 The Panel acknowledged that the current training delivered by the Head of Audit and 

Investigations was an excellent resource, and could continue to be offered to all front 
line staff, or any staff who feel they would benefit from this. 

 
3.31 The Senior Public Health Officer discussed several other training opportunities 

available to Council employees. Zero Suicide Alliance Training is a 20 minute online 
resource which provides a better understanding of the signs to look out for and the 
skills required to approach someone who is struggling, whether that be through social 
isolation or suicidal thoughts. The training is free of charge. 

 
3.32 Lancashire Mind have been commissioned by Healthier Lancashire and South 

Cumbria to deliver a range of training to help professionals and community members 
across Lancashire and South Cumbria to grow in confidence and skills around talking 
about suicide. Training ranges from short, 1-hour suicide awareness seminars to 
intermediate and advanced courses, including Mental Health First Aid. The cost of the 
training is covered by funding that Healthier Lancashire and South Cumbria have 
secured from NHS England. The training aims to increase knowledge and 
understanding of mental health and equip people with the ability to spot signs of poor 
mental health. It will be delivered online, in workplaces, educational and community 
settings to ensure we raise awareness of mental health, self-harm and suicide, and 
build resilience across communities. 

 
3.33 Amparo means ‘shelter’ or ‘safe haven’ in Spanish and provides support for anyone 

affected by suicide. Support can be provided one-to-one, to family groups, groups of 
colleagues or peers. The service is free of charge and available in Lancashire. Council 
employees, particularly those working in the cemeteries department, would benefit 
from being aware of the scheme and being able to signpost people to the service. 

 
3.34 The orange button is worn by people in Lancashire and South Cumbria who have 

undergone extensive suicide prevention training, and while they are not able to counsel 
people, they can provide comprehensive signposting to relevant services. There is also 
an orange button sticker that can be supplied to businesses and organisations such as 

Page 19



Page 8 of 14 
 

cafes, shops and pubs, to place in a prominent window alerting people to trained staff 
available to help. 

 
Recommended Action – That the Head of Policy and OD be asked to review the 
current training available to employees and Councillors with regards to mental 
health and suicide prevention, with consideration given to the following: 

 

 That “Dealing with Suicidal Customers” training is made available to all front line 
staff and Councillors, and that the Chief Executive strongly encourages all 
Department Heads to make their front line staff available for the training. 

 That Zero Suicide Alliance Training is made mandatory for all current 
employees, and is added to the induction programme for new employees. 

 That Training Opportunities are explored with support from Lancashire Mind and 
the Orange Button Scheme, including Cemeteries staff being trained to signpost 
those bereaved by suicide to relevant resources including Amparo. 

 
 
Hyndburn Hub 
 
3.35 At the beginning of the Covid-19 pandemic, the Council reacted quickly by establishing 

the Hyndburn Hub.  This initially focussed on supporting residents identified as 
“Clinically Vulnerable”, who were being advised to shield.  It has provided support with 
food provision and delivery of medication but quickly developed into a network of many 
local public, voluntary and community organisations who provide a whole range of 
support to individuals.  This has included befriending support to address loneliness, for 
example, the establishment of the Food Network.  The work was expanded further 
thanks to a successful bid to MCHLG for Community Champions Funding of almost 
half a million pounds.  This has been used in part to provide grants to a number of 
organisations to address the effects of Covid-19, through physical exercise 
opportunities and various activities.  This has been chosen by MCHLG as a case study 
and is detailed further at this link.  We have also commissioned an evaluation into the 
work of the Hub and will use this to inform future plans. 

 
Recommended Action – That the Council continues to support the Community 
Action Network and other emerging networks to address health and wellbeing 
issues in the Borough. 
 
Recommended Action – That the Council uses local networks to engage 
community and voluntary sector groups in suicide prevention work.   
 

 Recommended Action - The council work in partnership with key organisations 
in Hyndburn to promote suicide awareness, training opportunities and Orange 
Button Scheme 
 
 
 
 

Policy 

Page 20

https://khub.net/web/lga-covid-19-learning-exchange/resources?p_p_id=com_pfiks_dynamic_content_display_DynamicContentDisplayPortlet_INSTANCE_X5ZVQ565Hxmt&p_p_lifecycle=0&p_p_state=maximized&p_p_mode=view&_com_pfiks_dynamic_content_display_DynamicContentDisplayPortlet_INSTANCE_X5ZVQ565Hxmt_ddlRecordId=511475785&_com_pfiks_dynamic_content_display_DynamicContentDisplayPortlet_INSTANCE_X5ZVQ565Hxmt_structureId=509069455&_com_pfiks_dynamic_content_display_DynamicContentDisplayPortlet_INSTANCE_X5ZVQ565Hxmt_templateId=0&_com_pfiks_dynamic_content_display_DynamicContentDisplayPortlet_INSTANCE_X5ZVQ565Hxmt_mvcRenderCommandName=%2Fview-entry


Page 9 of 14 
 

 
3.36 Whilst the Council does not have a specific Mental Health or Suicide Prevention Policy, 

mental health is considered in relevant HR policies, as detailed above, and is a key 
part of its Employee Health and Wellbeing Strategy. 

 
Marketing and Communications 
 
3.37 The Council supports all marketing campaigns we receive from Public Health England 

via social media, including those around mental health and suicide prevention. 
 

Recommended Action – That the Head of Policy and OD ensures the Council 
continues to support mental health and suicide prevention awareness 
campaigns via social media, and makes available printed literature including 
“Help is at Hand” and “Starting a Conversation” leaflets in public areas of 
buildings. 
 

3.38 The Panel discussed the work of other Councils, particularly Chorley Council, whose 
work around suicide prevention was highlighted by Public Health. They have created a 
one stop page on their website which signposts to local mental health services. Panel 
members were keen to replicate this in Hyndburn. 

 
Recommended Action – The Council creates a page on its website which 
signposts residents to local mental health services. This could be linked to the 
Hyndburn Hub page, which has been a vital resource for residents throughout 
the pandemic. 
 
Recommended Action – The council ensure all staff are aware of the information, 
particularly frontline staff. 

 
 
 
Leisure 
 
3.39 Through our leisure delivery partner, Hyndburn Leisure, we support residents with 

mental health issues through a number of programmes including Active Lifestyles, 
Cardiac Rehab, History Walks, Gardening and a new 12 week programme aimed 
specifically at those adversely affected by COVID-19. Hyndburn Leisure also 
previously ran a programme specifically aimed at males at risk of suicide, with over 20 
referrals to the programme. The Community Champions Fund has provided 1000 free 
places on a 12 week health and wellbeing programme run by Hyndburn Leisure, which 
is aimed at anyone in the Borough recovering from the impact of the pandemic, 
including those experiencing anxiety, depression and low mood.  Staff are suicide first 
aid and mental health first aid qualified. 

 
3.40 The Panel were keen to promote the benefits of exercise in improving mental health, 

and thought that the programme previously run by Hyndburn Leisure targeted at those 
at risk of suicide was innovative. 

 

Page 21

https://www.hyndburnleisure.co.uk/hyndburn-community-champions/


Page 10 of 14 
 

Recommended Action – That the Chief Executive requests that Hyndburn 
Leisure work with Public Health to explore funding opportunities to reintroduce 
the exercise programme through the Community Champions funded programme 
working with Hyndburn residents who are experiencing poor mental health.  

 
Respond Effectively to High Risk Locations 
 
3.41 The Real Time Surveillance programme will be able to identify high risk locations.  If 

any areas within Hyndburn are identified, the Council will work with Public Health and 
other local partners following the relevant guidance to make high risk locations safer.  
For example previously the Arndale Car Park was a high risk location, fencing was 
introduced to limit access to upper floors along with The Samaritans signs being 
erected.    hopefully this answers your question 

 
Other 
 
3.42 Mental Health is a broad topic, and, although outside the scope of this Scrutiny 

Review, many other service areas of the Council support mental health through their 
core business. 

 
What additional actions could the Council take to support Suicide Prevention 
 
3.43 The Scrutiny Panel were keen to explore what additional measures the Council could 

take to support Suicide Prevention. The panel were aware that health is not a statutory 
function of a lower tier district authority, but felt we could have a role to support our 
residents and Public Health in delivering the Hyndburn Suicide Prevention and DRD 
Logic Model Action Plan. 

 
3.44 The recommendations above would demonstrate the Council’s commitment to 

supporting this cause, and could be formalised by signing up to the Local Authority 
Mental Health Challenge. The Mental Health Challenge for Local Authorities in 
England has now been active for five years. Centre for Mental Health set up the Mental 
Health Challenge in partnership with Association of Mental Health Providers, Mental 
Health Foundation, Mind, Rethink Mental Illness, the Royal College of Psychiatrists, 
and Young Minds, in order to support and encourage local authorities to take a 
proactive approach to the issues of mental health. To date they have succeeded in 
creating a network of more than 100 county, unitary, borough and district councils, 
each with a named ‘Member Champion’ for mental health. 

 
3.45 Local councillor champions across England are well placed to advocate for mental 

health in council policies and strategies, build partnerships with health services, 
schools and businesses, and work with their communities to help to combat stigma and 
improve understanding. 

 
3.46 The Council currently has several “Champion” roles including for disability and armed 

forces. A mental health and suicide prevention champion, with officer support could 
help oversee the recommendations of the Scrutiny Panel, should they be accepted. 

 
3.47 Therefore, the Panel recommend that Cabinet resolves to: 

Page 22



Page 11 of 14 
 

 
To sign up to the Mental Health Challenge for Local Authorities. 
To appoint an elected member as the Council’s ‘Mental Health Champion’. 
To identify a member of staff within the Council to act as ‘Lead Officer’ for 
mental health and wellbeing. 
To implement a Mental Health and Suicide Prevention Action Plan, detailed in 
Appendix 1. 
 
Comments from the Leader of the Council 
 

3.48 The Leader of the Council is supportive of the recommendations and looks forward to 
receiving them at Cabinet. 
 
Comments from the Portfolio Holder 
 

3.49 The Portfolio Holder is supportive of the recommendations and looks forward to 
receiving them at Cabinet.  
 
Comments from Corporate Management Team 
 

3.50 Corporate Management Team were consulted and minor amendments have been 
incorporated into the body of the report. 

 
 

4. Alternative Options considered and Reasons for Rejection 
 
4.1 The Council could choose not to sign up to the Mental Health Challenge, Appoint a 

Member Champion or adopt a Mental Health and Suicide Action Plan. This is rejected 
as real time surveillance shows Hyndburn is a growing area of concern for suicides. 

 
 
5. Consultations 
 
5.1 Communities and Wellbeing Overview and Scrutiny Committee, 8th July 2021. 
 
 
 
6. Implications 
 

Financial implications (including 
any future financial commitments 
for the Council) 
 

There may be a minimal cost to the Council 
for creating an elected member assistance 
programme (£313 per year). Other actions 
could be completed with existing budgets 

Legal and human rights 
implications 
 

To be considered for any policy change 

Assessment of risk 
 

TBC 

Equality and diversity implications TBC 

Page 23



Page 12 of 14 
 

A Customer First Analysis should be 
completed in relation to policy 
decisions and should be attached as 
an appendix to the report.  
 

 
 
7. Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1985: 

List of Background Papers  
 
7.1 Copies of documents included in this list must be open to inspection and, in the case of 
 reports to Cabinet, must be published on the website.  
 
 
If the report is public, insert the following paragraph. If the report is exempt, contact 
Member Services for advice. 
 
8. Freedom of Information 
 
8.1 The report does not contain exempt information under the Local Government Act 1972, 
 Schedule 12A and all information can be disclosed under the Freedom of Information 
 Act 2000. 
 
 

Page 24

http://hyntranet/index.php?option=com_remository&Itemid=80&func=startdown&id=1407


Page 13 of 14 
 

Appendix 1 – Hyndburn Borough Council Mental Health and Suicide Prevention Action Plan (DRAFT) 
 
Theme Action Person 

Responsible 
RAG Rating 

Employee Wellbeing EAP available to all employees Head of Policy 
and OD 

Green 

 Emotional Wellbeing Handbook – Is provided to all 
staff when they begin employment  

 Green 

 Recruit new “Friendly Faces”  Amber 

 Periodically review flexible working / bereavement 
leave and other related policies 

 Green 

 Explore opportunity to introduce Elected Member 
Assistance Programme EAP 

 Amber 

Review the current training 
available to employees and 
Councillors with regards to 
mental health and suicide 
prevention 

“Dealing with Suicidal Customers” training is made 
available to all front line staff and Councillors, and 
that the Chief Executive strongly encourages all 
Department Heads to make their front line staff 
available for the training 

Head of Audit 
and 
Investigations 

Green 

 That Zero Suicide Alliance Training is made 
mandatory for all current employees, and is 
added to the induction programme for new 
employees. 
 

Head of Policy 
and OD 

 

 That Training Opportunities are explored with 
support from Lancashire Mind and the Orange 
Button Scheme, including Cemeteries staff being 
trained to signpost those bereaved by suicide to 
relevant resources including Amparo 

Head of Policy 
and OD 

 

Policy Review current policies for impact on mental 
health 

Policy Manager 
HR Manager 

 

 That the Council continues to support the 
Community Action Network and other emerging 
networks to address health and wellbeing issues 
in the Borough. 

  P
age 25



Page 14 of 14 
 

 
 That the Council uses local networks to engage 

community and voluntary sector groups in 
suicide prevention work. 

  

Review the Marketing and 
Communication Plan 

Support all mental health campaigns sent by 
Public Health England 

Senior 
Marketing and 
Communications 
Officer 

Green 

 To make available relevant suicide prevention 
related printed leaflets in public areas of 
buildings 

  

 Create a dedicated page on the Council website 
to signpost to local mental health services 

  

Leisure Chief Executive requests that Hyndburn Leisure 
to work with Public Health to explore funding 
opportunities to reintroduce the exercise 
programme for those at risk of suicide. 

Hyndburn 
Leisure 

 

High risk locations To respond quickly to requests from partner 
organisations to review high risk locations and 
take action when required 

Scrutiny and 
Policy Officer 

 

Corporate Council to sign the mental health challenge   

 Council to appoint a “Mental Health Champion”   

 Work with local partners including Lancashire 
County Council and voluntary sector 
organisations to support suicide prevention 

  

 
 

P
age 26


	Agenda
	3. Minutes of Last Meeting
	4. Appointment of Co-optees
	5. Suicide Prevention Scrutiny Panel Report

